

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 793 / AUGUST 2007

STRUCTURAL ECONOMETRIC APPROACH TO BIDDING IN THE MAIN REFINANCING OPERATIONS OF THE EUROSYSTEM

by Nuno Cassola, Christian Ewerhart and Claudio Morana



WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 793 / AUGUST 2007

STRUCTURAL ECONOMETRIC APPROACH TO BIDDING IN THE MAIN REFINANCING OPERATIONS OF THE EUROSYSTEM '

> by Nuno Cassola², Christian Ewerhart³ and Claudio Morana⁴



This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=1003968.

In 2007 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €20 banknote.



20 EURO

1 The opinions presented in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily coincide with the views of the ECB. The present paper is a corrected and revised version of the draft that was published in the Journal of Financial Transformation, Vol. 19, April 2007. Preliminary versions of the paper were presented at internal ECB seminars, and to the conference The Econometrics of Auctions in Toulouse, May 12-13, 2006. We would like to thank B. Biais, A. Hortaçsu, J. Kastl and H. Paarsch, as well as an anonymous referee, for comments and discussions. All remaining errors are our own.

 European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, D-603 I I, Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: nuno.cassola@ecb.int
 Institute for Empirical Research in Economics (IEW), University of Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 30, CH-8006, Zurich, Switzerland; e-mail: christian.ewerhart@iew.unizh.ch

4 International Centre for Economic Research (ICER), and Università del Piemonte Orientale, Facoltà di Economia, Dipartimento di Scienze Economiche e Metodi Quantitativi, Via Perrone 18, 28100, Novara, Italy; e-mail: claudio.morana@eco.unipmn.it

© European Central Bank, 2007

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.europa. eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/html/index. en.html

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Ab	strac	t	4			
Executive Summary						
1	Introduction					
2	Theoretical framework					
3	Econometric methodology					
		Estimation of a structural model	13			
	3.2	Estimation of the auction's equilibrium				
		price	14			
	3.3	Nonparametric estimation of the				
		bid-shading components	14			
	3.4	Tests of individual bidding behavior	15			
		3.4.1 Test 1: Is more successful bidding				
		associated with more aggressive				
		bidding?	15			
		3.4.2 Test 2: Is the strategic inverse				
		bid schedule flatter than the true				
		demand?	16			
		3.4.3 Test 3: The sources of bid-shading	16			
4	The	data	16			
5	Empirical results					
	5.1	Bidders' heterogeneity	18			
	5.2	Bid-shading analysis	19			
	5.3	Tests on individual bidding behavior	19			
6	Conclusions					
References 2						
Tables and figures						
Eu	ropea	an Central Bank Working Paper Series	29			
	-	÷ 1				

3

Abstract

This paper contributes to the existing literature on central bank repo auctions. It is based on a structural econometric approach, whereby the primitives of bidding behavior (individual bid schedules and bid-shading components) are directly estimated. With the estimated parameters we calibrate a theoretical model in order to illustrate some comparative static results. Overall the results suggest that strategic and optimal behavior is prevalent in ECB tenders. We find evidence of a statistically significant bidshading component, even though the number of bidders is very large. Bidshading increases with liquidity uncertainty and decreases with the number of participants.

J.E.L. classification: G21, G12, D44, E43, E50

Keywords: repo auctions, monetary policy implementation, primary money market market, multi unit auctions, discriminatory auctions, collateral, central bank, nonparametric estimation

Executive Summary

The European Central Bank (ECB) provides refinancing to the banking system on a weekly basis via standard tender procedures. This paper contributes to the existing literature on central bank auctions by applying a structural econometric approach to modelling bidding behaviour at these tenders. The primitives of bidding behaviour are estimated (individual bid schedules and residual supply) and a re-sampling methodology is used to retrieve the individual bid-shading components (i.e. bid submitted below the marginal valuation). This is done in three steps: first, the market clearing price for each auction is estimated; second, given the market clearing price for each auction, the probability, for each bank, that an individual bid is successful is calculated; third, using these probabilities the first order optimality conditions are used, for each bank, to retrieve the individual bid-shading components.

The data set includes the bids submitted to the 31 weekly main refinancing operations conducted by the ECB between 16 March 2004 and 11 October 2004. Estimation has been performed by considering jointly the data for all the auctions for each bank, aggregating the bids over all the auctions, and averaging the bids to obtain the final data. The aggregation is justified by the stable environment that characterized the euro area money market over the period investigated both in terms of tender volumes and prices.

Overall the econometric results suggest that strategic and optimal behaviour is prevalent in ECB tenders. In fact, and despite some heterogeneity across bidders, there is evidence of a statistically significant bid-shading component even though the number of bidders is very large. Furthermore, we found that bid-shading increases with liquidity uncertainty and decreases with the number of participants and with price uncertainty. These results are fully in line with the theoretical predictions of a multi-unit auction model with discriminatory pricing and declining marginal valuations.

1. Introduction

The banking system in the euro area¹ is in a structural deficit position vis-à-vis the Eurosystem.² In fact, according to the consolidated financial statement of the Eurosystem³ on 1 July 2005, on the asset side, the refinancing of the ECB provided to the banking system via open market operations and recourse to the marginal lending facility amounted to EUR 398 billion, of which EUR 308 billion corresponded to liquidity provided through the regular (weekly) main refinancing operations. The latter are executed in the form of tender procedures.⁴

Central bank operations and government auctions of treasury securities look like similar means of allocating a good. In particular, both take place in the environment of a secondary market which in principle allows potential buyers to arbitrage away any potential difference in prices between the primary and the secondary markets. However, the central bank auctions like those conducted by the ECB differ from treasury auctions in several important dimensions. Firstly, central bank refinancing is provided against collateral. To the extent that low opportunity cost collateral is used first, the marginal valuation of liquidity should be declining as collateral of better quality must be increasingly provided. Second, in the euro area banks have to fulfill reserve requirements and this, rather then reselling in the secondary market, is the main motive for banks to bid in the regular open market operations of the ECB. Third, unlike T-bills, there are only imperfect substitutes to ECB refinancing. For example banks face credit limits and may not be able to borrow the full extent of their liquidity needs, or they may not be willing to extend their own credit limits. Thus, borrowing in the primary market with the objective of reselling in the secondary market is not as prevalent as in the treasury bond market. Fourth, there is little uncertainty about

¹The euro area refers to the 13 European Union (EU) Member States that share a single currency - the euro. These countries are Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxemburg, the Nederlands, Portugal, Slovenia and Spain.

²The Eurosystem refers to the European Central Bank (ECB) and the 13 National Central Banks (NCBs) of the participating EU Member States.

 $^{^{3}}$ The consolidated balance sheet of the Eurosystem shows that, on the liabilities side, the main liquidity absorbing factor is banknotes in circulation followed by current account holdings of credit institutions with the Eurosystem, where the latter cater essentially for the minimum reserve system. The consolidated balance sheet of the Eurosystem is published regularly in the Euro Area Statistics Annex of the ECB Monthly Bulletin.

⁴For details on the operational framework of the Eurosystem see "The implementation of monetary policy in the euro area: general documentation on Eurosystem monetary policy instruments and procedures", ECB, September 2006, downloadable from www.ecb.int.

the (common) value of the good auctioned.⁵ In fact, refinancing is provided for very short-term (overnight in the case of the marginal lending facility or one-week in the case of the main refinancing operations of the ECB) for which there is little price risk and, besides, a very liquid derivatives (swap) market exists, allowing hedging short-term interest rate risk.⁶

The combined features of declining marginal valuations, low uncertainty about the market value of the good and reserve requirements should be taken into account when modelling ECB tenders. In this paper we empirically test a model of optimal bidding in variable rate tenders using data from ECB auctions. Existing empirical work on the ECB main refinancing operations has relied exclusively on panel data analysis without any underlying structural model (see Nyborg et al. (2002) and Scalia et al. (2005)). Both papers conclude that bid-shading by participants to ECB tenders decreases with interest rate uncertainty, which is against the prediction of standard single-unit, common value auction theory (winner's curse). However, in none of these papers are the individual bid-shading components estimated. For example, Nyborg et al. (2002) compute two price measures, discount and underpricing, defined as the difference between the swap rate and, respectively, the quantity-weighted average bid rate and the quantity-weighted average winning rate for each bidder. As argued in this paper these measures may be good proxies for bid-shading only if marginal valuations are constant.

This paper contributes to the existing literature on central bank auctions in so far as it is based on a structural econometric approach, whereby the primitives of bidding behavior (individual bid schedules and bid-shading components) are directly estimated. With the estimated parameters we calibrate a theoretical model of the discriminatory auction, in order to illustrate some comparative static results. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 sets out the theoretical model of optimal bidding and Section 3 explains the econometric methodology. The data used in the study is described in Section 4 and the results are presented in Section 5. The main conclusions are presented at the end.

 $^{{}^{5}}$ Except on the final day of the reserve maintenance period. In the euro area the reserve maintenance period has a variable length, of approximately one month.

⁶The announcement of the weekly auction takes place, as a rule, on Monday at 15:00, together with the publication of the Eurosystem's forecast of the average daily liquidity needs of the banking system until the next open market operation, stemming from the so-called autonomous factors. At the same time, the ECB also publishes the benchmark allotment which corresponds, in general, to the amount of reserves that, based on past fulfilment and the projected autonomous factors, would bring the average reserve holdings one week ahead in line with the reserve requirement plus a technical, small amount for excess reserves.

2. Theoretical framework

As mentioned in Section 1, the Eurosystem conducts weekly tenders whereby refinancing is provided to the banking system. The liquidity is allotted via standard tender procedures, pay-your-bid and pro-rata allotment at the cut-off price (marginal tender rate).⁷ Formally these auctions are multi-unit auctions (or share auctions) with discriminatory pricing and a reserve price. The econometric approach employed in this paper is based on the idea that individual bidders face uncertainty about residual supply, as modeled by Klemperer and Mayer (1989), Kyle (1989), Back and Zender (1993) and Viswanathan and Wang (2002), among others. Ewerhart et al. (2006) have shown that when bidders have ex-post discretion about the choice of collateral that is used in funding transactions, as is the case in the Euro area, then such a model is consistent with the existence of a perfect secondary market for short-term credit. For complete references and details on the derivations, as well as for the discussion of uniform vs. discriminatory pricing, the reader is referred to Ewerhart et. al. (2006). In this paper the discussion will focus exclusively on the discriminatory pricing case.

Model A central bank puts up for sale a random quantity, the total allotment $\widetilde{Q} \geq 0$, of liquidity (i.e. a perfectly divisible good). There are two alternative interpretations for uncertainty about aggregate allotment. First, the central bank may possess a superior knowledge about the aggregate liquidity shortage facing the banking system. Second, there may be a fraction of non-strategic bidders. In practice, both effects contribute to the uncertainty about the residual supply perceived by the individual bidder (bank). For reasons of tractability we assume that \widetilde{Q} is uniformly distributed in $[0, \overline{Q}]$. There are i = 1, 2, ..., n bidders which do not observe the total allotment prior to the submission of bids. The central bank does not exploit its information about the incoming bid schedules to affect

⁷The Eurosystem has the option of conducting either fixed rate (volume) or variable rate (interest) tenders. The main refinancing operations have been conducted as variable rate tenders, with a minimum bid rate, since June 2001. In the variable rate tenders banks may submit bids for up to ten different pairs of interest rate/quantity levels. The interest rates bid must be expressed as multiples of 0.01 percentage point. The minimum bid amout is EUR 1,000,000 and bids exceeding this amount must be expressed as multiples of EUR 100,000. Counterparties are expected to cover the amounts alloted to them (not their bids) by a sufficient amout of eligible underlying assets. For further details on the tender procedures see "The implementation of monetary policy in the euro area: general documentation on Eurosystem monetary policy instruments and procedures", ECB, September 2006, downloadable from www.ecb.int.

the distribution of \widetilde{Q} . Marginal valuations are assumed to be linearly decreasing from a maximum valuation $\overline{v} > 0$ that is common to all bidders. Thus, bidder *i*'s marginal valuations for quantities $q_i \ge 0$ are formally given by $v_i(q_i) = \overline{v} - q_i/B_i$, for an exogenous parameter $B_i > 0$. We consider a symmetric set-up where $B_1 = B_2 = \ldots = B_n$. The tender mechanism asks each bidder to submit a bid schedule that specifies, for any price $p \ge 0$, the amount $x_i(p_i) \ge 0$ that bidder *i* is willing to buy at *p*. A schedule $x_i(p_i)$ is admissible if it is non-increasing, left-continuous, and if $x_i(p_i) = 0$ for a sufficiently high *p*. It is assumed that only admissible bid schedules are accepted by the auctioneer. Let $x(p) = \sum_{i=1}^n x_i(p)$ denote total demand at price *p*, and $P^*(\widetilde{Q}) = \left\{ p \ge 0 | x(p) \le \widetilde{Q} \right\}$ the set of prices at which total demand can be satisfied. The stop-out price is defined as the infimum $p^*(\widetilde{Q}) = \inf P^*(\widetilde{Q})$ of such prices.

Individual allotments are determined by satisfying all bids strictly above the stop-out price, and by applying rationing at the margin, if necessary. Formally, define $x_i^+(p^*) = \lim_{p \to p^*, p > p^*} x_i(p)$ as bidder's *i* demand at a price just above p^* , and let $x^+(p^*) = \sum_{i=1}^n x_i(p^*)$, denote the corresponding aggregate. Bidder *i* obtains an allotment

$$q_{i}^{*}(\widetilde{Q}) = x_{i}^{+}(p^{*}(\widetilde{Q})) + \frac{x_{i}(p^{*}(\widetilde{Q})) - x_{i}^{+}(p^{*}(\widetilde{Q}))}{x(p^{*}(\widetilde{Q})) - x^{+}(p^{*}(\widetilde{Q}))} \left\{ \widetilde{Q} - x^{+}(p^{*}(\widetilde{Q})) \right\},$$
(2.1)

in state \widetilde{Q} . Thus, when demand exceeds supply, the allotment is composed of a complete allocation of the part of the bid schedule that lies above the stop-out price, and a pro-rata allocation of any flat segment of the bid schedule that lies at the stop-out price. The tuple $(p^*, q_1^*, q_2^*, ..., q_n^*)$ consisting of the stop-out price and the individual allotments will be referred to as the outcome of the tender.

Bidders are risk-neutral, assumed to maximize expected profits. Define the inverse bid schedule as $b_i(q_i) = \inf \{p \ge 0 | x_i(p) \le q_i\}$. Under discriminatory pricing, the bidder *i* pays her own bid $b_i(q_i)$ for any marginal unit, so that the resulting profit from an outcome $(p^*, q_1^*, q_2^*, ..., q_n^*)$ amounts to

$$\Pi_i = \int_0^{q_i^*} \left\{ v_i(q_i) - b_i(q_i) \right\} dq_i.$$
(2.2)

Equilibrium An equilibrium can be found in the discriminatory auction for $n \geq 2$, when bidders i = 1, 2, ..., n, have identical marginal valuations $v_i(q_i) =$

 $\overline{v} - q_i/B$. For simplicity, we assume also that demand is sufficiently strong, i.e., $\overline{Q} < n\overline{v}B$. Then bidder *i* submits the piecewise linear bid schedule

$$x_i(p) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} 0 & \text{for } p > \overline{v}^d \\ B^d(\overline{v}^d - p) & \text{for } p_{\min} (2.3)$$

for i = 1, 2, ..., n, where

$$\overline{v}^d = \overline{v} - \frac{\overline{Q}}{(2n-1)B} \tag{2.4}$$

$$B^{d} = \frac{2n-1}{n-1}B (2.5)$$

$$p_{\min} = \overline{v} - \frac{Q}{nB}.$$
(2.6)

are the maximum price bid, the slope of the inverse bid schedule, and the minimum stop-out price, respectively.⁸

The equilibrium marginal rate in the model is stochastic as it depends on the allotment. The expected stop-out rate is equal to the rate that obtains when the central bank allots half of the maximum quantity and it is given by

$$E(p^{\max}) = \overline{v} - \frac{(3n-1)Q}{2n(2n-1)B}.$$
(2.7)

When $n \to \infty$ the quantity allotted is $\overline{Q}(n) = n \overline{Q}$. Then, the maximum price at which a bid is placed will converge to

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \overline{v}^d = \overline{v} - \frac{\overline{Q}}{2B},\tag{2.8}$$

and the expected stop-out rate will converge to

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} E(p^{\text{mar}}) = \overline{v} - \frac{3\overline{Q}}{4B}$$

$$= \overline{v} - \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{2B} std(\widetilde{Q})$$
(2.9)

 $^{^{8}}$ For formal proofs see Ewerhart et. al. (2006).

with $std(\tilde{Q}) = \overline{Q}/(2\sqrt{3})$. From equation (2.9) three conclusions can be drawn. First, strategic behavior does not disappear when the number of participants to the auction is very large; thus some bid-shading will be observed also in this case. Second, an increase in liquidity uncertainty, measured by an increase in the standard deviation of the total allotment (or its variance) increases bid-shading and leads to a fall in the stop-out rate. Third, if less liquid collateral becomes relatively more abundant in the collateral pool (increase in *B*) bid-shading is reduced and the stop-out price increases.

Empirical predictions The theoretical model suggests five testable predictions about individual bidding behavior and interest rate spreads:

- 1. The inverse bid schedule is flatter than the true demand or, equivalently, the bid schedule is steeper than the true marginal valuation curve.
- 2. In equilibrium there is a positive spread between the (shadow) repo rate and the marginal (stop-out) price.
- 3. Bid-shading decreases with the number of bidders; however, it does not disappear even when the participation in the auction (n) is very large.
- 4. Bid shading increases with allotment uncertainty.

Illustration of the model The solution of the model is illustrated in Figure 1. The true linear demand curve (dotted line) is represented above a piecewise linear bid schedule $(x_i(p))$ which was drawn for $\overline{Q}(n) = 300$ (EUR billion). The other parameters are set as follows: $\overline{v} = 2.06$ (the one-week EONIA swap rate level⁹), B = 18.7, n = 300, i.e. calibrated to match euro area data (see Section 3 for details). Auction prices correspond to interest rates in percent.

Equilibrium is determined at the interception of the individual bid schedule with the residual supply curve, i.e. the supply diminished by the allotments made to the other bidders at a given price. The theory predicts that bids will

⁹EONIA (euro overnight index rate) is a weighted average of the interest rates on unsecured overnight lending transactions denominated in euro, as reported by a panel of contributing banks. The one-week EONIA swap rate is the main reference for banks when they prepare their bids, given that this segment of the swap market is very liquid and the Eurosystem's refinancing operations have one-week maturity. Given that the underlying EONIA refers to unsecured loans, bids submitted to ECB repo operations should be below that rate.

be submitted at rates between 2.007 and 2.033. An equilibrium is depicted such that the allotment ratio is 50%; the stop-out price (marginal ECB tender rate) is at 2.02, and the corresponding shadow repo rate (equal to the true marginal valuation) is at 2.033 with a bid-shading component of 1.3 basis points. Suppose the minimum bid rate was set at 2.0. Thus, in this particular case, the spread between the swap rate and the minimum bid rate would be 6 basis points; the spread between the repo rate¹⁰ and the minimum bid rate would be 2.7 basis points, and the spread between the marginal tender rate (cut-off rate) and the minimum bid rate would be 2 basis points. These spreads are close to those observed in the euro money market when ECB's minimum bid rate was 2.0.

Consider next an allotment with Q(n) = 375 with the remaining parameters unchanged. This could result from an increase in liquidity uncertainty (see Figure 2). The (expected) stop-out price is at 2.01, while the shadow repo rate is 2.027 with a bid-shading component of 1.7 basis points. Thus, in this particular case, the spread between the swap rate and the minimum bid rate would still be 6 basis points; the spread between the repo rate and the minimum bid rate, 2.7 basis points, and the spread between the marginal tender rate and the minimum bid rate would be 1 basis points. This exercise illustrates the *ceteris paribus* impact of an increase in liquidity uncertainty on bid shading (increase from 1.3 to 1.7 basis points).

Finally consider again an allotment with $\overline{Q}(n) = 300$, however with a higher swap rate ($\overline{v} = 2.07$) and a steeper bid shedule (i.e. flatter marginal valuation). This shift could be due to an increase in the relative scarcity of liquid collateral.¹¹ An equilibrium is depicted in Figure 3. The (expected) stop-out price is at 2.04, while the shadow repo rate is 2.05 with a bid-shading component of 1 basis points. Thus, in this particular case, the spread between the swap rate and the minimum bid rate would be 7 basis points; the spread between the repo rate and the minimum bid rate, 5 basis points, and the spread between the cut-off rate (marginal tender rate) and the minimum bid rate would be 4 basis points. In this case volatility in market interest rates would be correlated with a decline in bid-shading, which could be wrongly interpreted as a reversal of the winner's curse and may explain the finding in Nyborg et. al. (2002).

¹⁰The theoretical repo rate does not correspond to the private market repo rate (the so-called GC rate). The former should lie somewhat above the latter because it is collateralized with less liquid paper.

¹¹This situation could also be explained by an increase in $\overline{Q}(n)$ when this shift captures an increase in demand/supply with unchanged availability of liquid collateral. This would lead to an increase in \overline{v} . For simplicity we kept $\overline{Q}(n)$ unchanged in this simulation.

3. Econometric methodology

3.1. Estimation of a structural model

In the econometric work we follow the structural empirical approach to auctions, which is an expanding field recently surveyed by Athey and Haile (2004). More specifically we follow the approach suggested by Hortaçsu (2002 a, b). We proceed in three steps:

- 1. Estimation of the equilibrium price for each auction.
- 2. Estimation of the bid-shading components.
- 3. Tests on individual bidding behavior.

Denote bidder *i*'s marginal utility from winning q units of the good, $v_i(q)$. The utility maximization problem can be written as

$$\max_{y_{i}(.)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\{ \int_{0}^{q_{i}} \left[v_{i}(q) - b_{i}(q) \right] dq \right\} dH\left(p^{c}, x_{i}(p) \right),$$
(3.1)

where $q_i = x_i(p)$, and $H(p^c, x_i(p))$ and $dH(p^c, x_i(p))$ are the cumulative distribution and density functions of the market clearing price (p^c) , conditional on submitting a demand function $x_i(p)$, respectively, i.e. p^c is such that $x_i(p^c) = \widetilde{Q} - \sum_{i \neq i} x_j(p^c)$ and $H(p^c, x_i(p)) = \Pr\{p^c \leq p | x_i(p)\}$.

The Euler necessary condition for the maximization of the objective function is then

$$v(x_i(p)) = p + \frac{H(p^c, x_i(p))}{H_p(p^c, x_i(p))},$$
(3.2)

where $H_p(p^c, x_i(p)) = \frac{\partial H(p^c, x_i(p))}{\partial p^c}$; $v(x_i(p))$ is the true marginal valuation given to quantity q by bidder i. It is equal to the price bid p plus the bid-shading component, measured by the inverse hazard ratio. The above optimality condition allows to nonparametrically identify the marginal valuations of the bidders using observed bids.

3.2. Estimation of the auction's equilibrium price

Estimation has been performed by considering jointly the data for all the auctions for each bank, aggregating the bids over all the auctions, and averaging the bids to obtain the final data. This has required the exclusion from the sample of all banks that bid at the same price in all auctions. The aggregate approach can be justified by the stable environment that characterized the euro area money market over the period investigated. Moreover, during the sample period there were no changes in ECB key policy rates. The assumption that auctions take place in a static environment is important for the validity of the methodology we follow in this paper.

The OLS estimator has been employed, considering both linear and log-log specifications. The clearing (equilibrium) price for each auction (t), $p^{c,t}$, has been computed by equating the aggregate bidding function, obtained by horizontal summing of the inverse individual bidding functions, and total supply, and solving for the equilibrium price (interest rate). Hence, by denoting the estimated inverse aggregate bid function as $p = \hat{\alpha} - \hat{\beta}q^d$, the equilibrium price has been computed from the market equilibrium condition, $q^d = q^s$ as $p^{c,t} = \hat{\alpha} - \hat{\beta}q^s$.

3.3. Nonparametric estimation of the bid-shading components

In this part we follow the methodology developed by Hortaçsu (2002b). There are T auctions in the sample and n_t bidders participate at auction t, t = 1, ..., T. The procedure to estimate the bid-shading components works as follows:

i) select auction t and bidder i;

ii) from the sample of $n_t - 1$ vectors, draw a random sample of $n_t - 1$ individual intercept and slope vectors with replacement;

iii) use the random sample to compute the residual supply function and intersect with bidder *i*'s bidding function to determine the market clearing price conditional on *i*'s submitting a bid shedule (p^c) ;

iv) repeat for K times the previous steps to determine the empirical cumulative conditional distribution of the market clearing price, $\hat{H}(p^c, x_i(p))$, taking into account the truncation implied by the minimum bid rate;

v) then, with reference to the estimated equilibrium price for the auction, $p^{c,t}$, compute the probability $\Pr \{p^c \leq p^{c,t} | x_i(p)\} = \hat{H}(p^{c,t}, x_i(p))$ and the value of the density function at $p^{c,t}$, i.e. $\frac{\partial \hat{H}(p^{c,t}, x_i(p))}{\partial p}$, as $\frac{\hat{H}(p^{c,t}, x_i(p)) - \hat{H}(p^0, x_i(p))}{p^{c,t} - p^0}$, where p^0 is the ordered price statistic before the equilibrium price $(\dots < p^0 < p^{c,t} < \dots)$.

The bid-shading component can then be computed as the ratio of the probability over the value of the density function;

vi) repeat the previous steps for each of the bidders participating to auction t.

vii) repeat the previous steps for each auction.

Kernel estimation has been employed at point v). Given that the price distribution is truncated to the left, i.e. the bid rate cannot fall below the minimum bid rate, a Gaussian truncated kernel has been employed for the estimation of the equilibrium price density function.¹² Finally, standard errors for the bid-shading components have been obtained by bootstrapping the empirical distribution of the bid-shading components for each auction.

3.4. Tests of individual bidding behavior

On the basis of the estimated slopes and intercepts, heterogeneity across bidders can be assessed and measured by standard statistical tools. Moreover, tests on bidding behavior can be carried out as follows.

3.4.1. Test 1: Is more successful bidding associated with more aggressive bidding?

The first test of bidding behavior is a general one, not directly related to the theoretical model but nonetheless interesting on its own. The following cross sectional regressions were performed

$$\bar{s}_{i} = \theta_{\alpha_{0}} + \theta_{\alpha_{1}}\hat{\alpha}_{i} + \varepsilon_{\alpha i},$$

$$\bar{s}_{i} = \theta_{\beta_{0}} + \theta_{\beta_{1}}|\hat{\beta}_{i}| + \varepsilon_{\beta i},$$
(3.3)

where \bar{s}_i is the average shortfall over the auctions in which bidder *i* has participated, and $\hat{\alpha}_i$ and $|\hat{\beta}_i|$ are the estimated intercept and (absolute) slope parameters of the individual (inverse) bidding functions. The shortfall in a given auction has been measured as the ratio of the quantity demanded by the bidder and the quantity actually allocated to the bidder. Thus, an increase in this measure means less success at the auction. It is expected that $\theta_{\alpha_1} < 0$ and $\theta_{\beta_1} < 0$, denoting that an increase in shortfall is associated with less aggressive behavior measured by lower $\hat{\alpha}_i$ and lower $|\hat{\beta}_i|$.

 $^{^{12}}$ See Pagan and Ullah (1999).

3.4.2. Test 2: Is the strategic inverse bid schedule flatter than the true demand?

The test can be implemented by running the cross sectional regression

$$|\hat{\beta}_i| = \theta_{q_0} + \theta_q \bar{q}_i + \varepsilon_{\beta i}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where \bar{q}_i is the average quantity bid by bidder *i* over all the auctions in which it has participated. It is expected $\theta_q < 0$, which can be interpreted as bid-shading decreasing in the quantity bid. This is consistent with the idea of a true valuation schedule steeper than the observed bid schedule.

3.4.3. Test 3: The sources of bid-shading

To assess whether a relationship between bid-shading, supply uncertainty and the number of bidders can be found, the following cross sectional regression has been estimated

$$bs_t = \gamma_{0_1} + \gamma_{1_1}\hat{\sigma}_t + \gamma_{2_1}\hat{\sigma}_{zt} + \gamma_{3_1}n_t + \varepsilon_{bst},$$

where bs_t is the average of the estimated bid shading components, considering all the bidders participating at auction t, obtained using the above described approaches, $\hat{\sigma}_t$ is price value uncertainty, measured by the conditional standard deviation of the one-week Eonia swap rate for the week preceding auction t^{13} or by the price intercept dispersion;¹⁴ n_t is the number of participants to auction t, and $\hat{\sigma}_{zt}$ is a proxy for liquidity supply uncertainty for auction t, measured by the conditional standard deviation of the cumulated liquidity forecast error for auction t.¹⁵ It is expected that $\gamma_{2_1} > 0$ and $\gamma_{3_1} < 0$. From the theoretical model no clear prediction can be made about the sign of the parameter γ_{1_1} .

4. The data

The data set includes all bids submitted to the 31 weekly main refinancing operations conducted by the ECB between 16 March 2004 and 11 October 2004.

 $^{^{13}}$ The daily volatility of the one-week Eonia swap rate has been computed by means of a GARCH(1,1) model. The weekly volatility has been computed by summing the daily volatility over the five working days of the week.

¹⁴This variable is considered to control for the effect referred in Nyborg et. al. (2002).

 $^{^{15}}$ It refers to the conditional standard deviation of the cumulated liquidity forecast error made by the Eurosystem, over eight days, on the allotment day, computed by means of a GARCH (1,1) model.

During the period under analysis the maturity of the ECB repo operations was one week. The average number of bidders was 359 with an average of 515 bids, thus giving 1.44 bids per bidder. The average bid amount was EUR 300 billion, with a maximum of EUR 344 billion and a minimum of EUR 224 billion. Thus, in the calibration exercise presented in Section 2, we set as benchmark values Q(n) = 300 and n = 300. The average allotted amount was EUR 239 billion, with a maximum of EUR 263 billion and a minimum of EUR 206 billion, suggesting a relatively stable supply environment. The bid-to-cover ratio moved around an average value of 1.26, which suggests relatively successful bidding. In the sample period the marginal MRO rate was 2.007 on average, the average secondary market repo rate 2.011, the weighted average MRO rate was 2.0148 on average, and the average EONIA swap rate 2.0306. Thus, the average spread between the secondary market repo rate and the marginal ECB tender rate was 0.4 basis points, indicative of a small though positive bid shading component.¹⁶ In the calibration exercise we used somewhat higher market rates for the sake of clarity in the illustration.

5. Empirical results

Not all the data are usable for the empirical analysis. In fact, the implementation of the (averaged) parametric disaggregated approach requires the availability of at least two different bids placed during the 31 auctions in the sample, not necessarily at the same auction. After excluding from the sample the banks that placed only a single bid over the 31 auctions or always bid at the same price, 525 banks and 15753 bids (representing a value of EUR 9297.607 billion) are left, against a total of 593 banks and 15973 bids (for a total value of EUR 9327.326 billion). Although the number of excluded banks relative to the total number of banks in the sample is not negligible (12%; 68 banks), the number of excluded bids is negligible both in terms of total number (0.25%; 220 bids) and total value (0.3%; EUR 29.719 billion). Hence, the analysis carried out by means of the disaggregated parametric approach should not be affected by sample trimming, albeit subject to the caveat that the estimated bidding functions are only representative of the average behavior of each agent. Yet, in the light of the short sample employed (March 2004 - October 2004) and the relatively smooth liquidity supply and bidding environment that

¹⁶Note that the theoretical (shadow) repo rate should lie somewhat above the secondary market repo rate because the collateral pledged in the latter is more liquid than the collateral pledged in the ECB main refinancing operations.

characterized the euro area money market over the period investigated, the results drawn from the average analysis are expected to be reliable. Moreover, the period under analysis was marked by absence of short-term expectations of key ECB interest rate changes, which could have undermined the private values assumption underlying the modelling approach.

5.1. Bidders' heterogeneity

A first evaluation of the presence of heterogeneity across bidders can be carried out through the analysis of the estimated bidding functions for each single bidder. As discussed in the methodological section, bidding functions for each agent and auction have been estimated by means of OLS regressions using both a linear and log-log specification. Given the characteristics of the data analyzed, only average bidding functions could be estimated for each agent. Summary statistics are reported in Table 1, where figures have been normalized relative to the average allotment value, while in Figure 4 the estimated empirical distributions, after log transformation, are plotted. Only results obtained for the linear model have been reported, since the latter specification appeared to be superior to the log-log model in terms of fit (the average R^2 is equal to 0.98 for the linear model and 0.95 for the log-log model). As Table 1 and Figure 4 show, there is evidence of heterogeneity across bidders, with 70% of the slopes and intercepts falling in the range (-0.002, -0.16) and (0.008, 0.85), respectively (the estimated standard deviations are equal to 0.93 and 1.89, with mean values equal to -0.20 and 0.41, for slopes and intercepts respectively).

Evidence of heterogeneity is also provided by the estimated price (interest rate) elasticities, ranging between -203 and -33 (estimated mean and standard deviations are -94 and 34). Despite the variability found, in all cases the evidence points to highly elastic (inverse) bidding functions. Computing the price elasticities using the log-log model, rather than using the average bids values, does not modify this conclusion, with quantiles also numerically very similar to the ones obtained from the linear model.

As shown by the QQ-plots reported in Figure 4, the distribution of the estimated slopes and intercepts is very close to a lognormal one, while for the elasticities the evidence is less compelling, due to a heavier than predicted left tail. An important open question thus is whether the presence of heterogeneity is sufficient to empirically reject the theoretical results implied by an homogeneous agents framework.

5.2. Bid-shading analysis

In Figure 4 the empirical distribution for the estimated (log) bid-shading components are plotted, while in Table 1 quantiles for the actual values of the components (multiplied by 100) and the test for significance of the estimated components are reported. Three findings seem to be of particular interest. First, the bid-shading components seem to follow closely a log normal distribution. Second, the estimated bid-shading components tend to be small, ranging between 0.2 b.p. and 0.8 b.p., with average value of 0.5 b.p. and a standard deviation equal to 0.12 b.p. The fact that the sample average of the spread between the secondary market repo rate and the marginal ECB tender rate (0.4 b.p.) falls within this interval is further evidence of bid-shading (see footnote 11). Third, the estimated bid-shading components tend to be statistically significant. The null of zero bid-shading component, against the alternative of positive bid-shading component, can be rejected at the 1% significance level 90% of the times. Given the large number of bidders participating at each auction and across auctions, finding positive, statistically significant bid-shading components provides evidence that bid-shading does not disappear even when n is large. This is one of the key theoretical predictions, which is not rejected.

5.3. Tests on individual bidding behavior

Table 2 reports the results of the tests on bidding behavior described in the methodological section. The regressions have been estimated by OLS and heteroskedasticity consistent standard errors have been computed. Moreover, in order to control for the different magnitude of the variables employed the dependent and independent variables have been standardized.

Test 1: Is more successful bidding associated with more aggressive bidding? The key parameters to answer this question are θ_{α_1} and θ_{β_1} , which are expected to be both negative as an increase in \bar{s}_i (less success) should be correlated with less aggressive bidding behavior. Indeed, both estimated parameters are negative and statistically significant (see Table 2). However, the R^2 of the slope regression is virtually zero (0.01), while that of the intercept regression is non negligibly larger (0.12).

Test 2: Is the strategic inverse bid schedule flatter than the true demand? The key parameter for this test is θ_q , which is expected to be negative in the case large bid volumes are accompanied by less bid-shading. This hypothesis is weakly supported by the data (see Table 2). In fact, the linkage between slopes and the bid quantities is negative, but significant only at the 10% level. However, the R^2 of the regression is virtually zero (0.01), suggesting that bidders' heterogeneity is little explained by this size variable.

Test 3: Sources of bid shading The key parameters for this test are γ_{1_1} , γ_{2_1} , γ_{3_1} . Theoretical results suggest that $\gamma_{2_1} > 0$; and $\gamma_{3_1} < 0$; No clear cut prediction can be made about γ_{1_1} . Empirical evidence (see Table 2) does not reject the hypothesis that bid-shading falls as value uncertainty and the number of bidders increase ($\hat{\gamma}_{1_1}$, $\hat{\gamma}_{1_3} < 0$); and that bid-shading increases as supply uncertainty increases ($\hat{\gamma}_{3_2} > 0$). The linkage of bid-shading with value uncertainty is significant only when the one-week Eonia rate volatility is employed as a measure of value uncertainty. As a general result, using the standard deviation of the estimated intercepts to proxy value uncertainty leads to less significant estimates, both in terms of estimated coefficients and R^2 of the regressions, than when the volatility of the one-week Eonia rate is employed.¹⁷

The empirical evidence is in line with the theoretical predictions. The finding that the parameter γ_{1_1} has a negative sign confirms the previous findings in Nyborg et. al. 2002 that interest rate volatility leads to a reduction in bid-shading. This empirical finding can be explained within the theoretical framework presented in this paper, by an increase in the relative scarcity of liquid collateral. Unfortunately, until individual data on collateral is available this hypothesis cannot be tested. Nevertheless, we find that allotment uncertainty increases bid-shading and lowers tender rates, which is a result so far not considered or tested by other authors.

6. Conclusions

Overall the econometric results suggest that strategic and optimal behavior is prevalent in ECB tenders. Despite the documented heterogeneity across bidders, bidding behavior in ECB tenders seems consistent with optimal behavior in a multi-unit discriminatory pricing auction. There is evidence of a statistically significant bid shading component, even though the number of bidders is very large.

 $^{^{17}}$ The highest, average and lowest R^2 for the parametric disaggregated approach are 0.73, 0.66 and 0.58, respectively.

We found that bid-shading increases with liquidity uncertainty and decreases with the number of participants and with price uncertainty.

References

- [1] Athey, Susan and P. A. Haile, 2004, Nonparametric Approaches to Auctions, (forthcoming *Handbook of Econometrics*).
- [2] Back, K., and J. F. Zender, 1993, Auctions of Divisible Goods: On the Rationale for the Treasury Experiment, *Review of Financial Studies*, 6, 733-764.
- [3] Ewerhart, C., N. Cassola, N. Valla, 2006, Declining Valuations and Equilibrium Bidding in Central Bank Refinancing Operations, ECB Working Paper No. 668, August 2006.
- [4] Haile, P.A., H. Hong and M. Shum, 2003, Nonparametric Tests for Common Values in First-Price Bid-Sealed Auctions, mimeo, University of Yale.
- [5] Hortaçsu, A., 2002a, Mechanism Choice and Strategic Bidding in Divisible Good Auctions: An Empirical Analysis of the Turkish Treasury Auction Market, mimeo, University of Chicago.
- [6] Hortaçsu, A., 2002b, Bidding Behavior in Divisible Good Auctions: Theory and Evidence from the Turkish Treasury Auction Market, mimeo, University of Chicago.
- [7] Klemperer, P. and M. Meyer, 1989, Supply Function Equilibria in Oligopoly under Uncertainty, *Econometrica*, 57, 1243-1277.
- [8] Kyle, A. S., 1989, Informed Speculation with Imperfect Competition, Review of Economic Studies, 56, 317-356.
- [9] Nyborg, K., U. Bindseil, and I. Strebulaev, 2002, Bidding and performance in repo auctions: evidence from the ECB open market operations, ECB Working Paper No. 157, July 2002.
- [10] Pagan, A. and Ullah, A., 1999, Nonparametric Econometrics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

- [11] Scalia, A., G. Bruno, and M. Ordine, 2005, Bank's participation in the Eurosystem auctions and money market integration, paper presented to the ECB Conference on Monetary Policy Implementation, 20-21 January 2005.
- [12] Viswanathan, S. and J. Wang, 2002, Market Architecture, Limit-Order Books versus Dealership Markets, Journal of Financial Markets, 5, 127-167.



Q	β_L^d	α_L^d	ε_L^d	β^d_{LL}	P_{d_k}	p - val_{d_k}
0.01	-2.6004	0.0007	-203.12	-240.28	0.2161	0.0000
0.05	-0.9268	0.0016	-154.64	-178.69	0.2806	3E - 6
0.10	-0.4288	0.0033	-135.00	-162.78	0.3186	1E - 5
0.20	-0.1649	0.0075	-118.74	-138.98	0.3683	4E - 5
0.30	-0.0659	0.0136	-106.39	-122.35	0.4017	8E - 5
0.40	-0.0361	0.0232	-98.64	-112.58	0.4312	0.0002
0.50	-0.0207	0.0408	-89.46	-102.88	0.4586	0.0003
0.60	-0.0114	0.0729	-80.40	-92.36	0.4878	0.0005
0.70	-0.0067	0.1303	-73.98	-84.95	0.5202	0.0010
0.80	-0.0037	0.3322	-67.06	-75.97	0.5571	0.0019
0.90	-0.0016	0.8484	-58.83	-67.13	0.6144	0.0048
0.95	-0.0008	1.6879	-51.46	-58.35	0.6634	0.0102
0.99	-0.0004	4.6742	-33.18	-39.07	0.7914	0.0329
mean	-0.1996	0.4067	-94.12	-108.53	0.4653	0.0022
std.dev.	0.9288	1.8951	33.68	39.62	0.1185	0.0065

Table 1: Estimated parameters, quantiles.

The table reports the quantiles for the estimated slopes (β) , intercepts (α) and price (bid rate) elasticities (ε) obtained from the disaggregated (d; single bidder) models. The linear model is denoted by L, while the log-log model by LL. Note

that the slope parameter in the log-log model measures the price (bid rate) elasticity. The table also reports the quantiles for the estimated bid-shading components and for the p-values of the one-sided test for statistical significance of the estimated bid-shading components. Figures have been multiplied by 100.

Table 2:	Tests on l	oidding behaviour
	P_{d_k}	$P_{d_{k_2}}$
Δ	-0.342^{**}	
$ heta_{lpha_1}$	(0.081)	
0	-0.117^{**}	
θ_{β_1}	(0.026)	
0	-0.093	
$ heta_q$	(0.055)	
	-0.352^{*}	-0.144
γ_{1_1}	(0.169)	(0.175)
	0.306^{**}	0.455^{**}
γ_{2_1}	(0.133)	(0.136)
	-0.676**	-0.494**
γ_{3_1}	(0.085)	(0.089)
	(0.000)	(0.000)

The table reports the estimated parameters for the ausiliary test regressions. Heteroschedastic standard errors are reported in brackets. * denotes significance at the 5% level, ** denotes significance at the 1% level. P_{d_k} denotes the results obtained by the disaggregated parametric approach with kernel estimation, using the conditional standard deviation of the one-week Eonia rate as proxy for value uncertainty; $P_{d_{k_2}}$ denotes the results obtained by the disaggregated parametric approach with kernel estimation of the estimated deviation of the standard deviation of the standard deviation of the standard deviation of the standard deviation of the estimated intercepts as proxy for value uncertainty.





Figure 1. Equilibrium bidding





Figure 2. Increase in bid-shading





Figure 3. Decrease in bid-shading



Figure 4: Empirical distributions and QQ-plots. Estimated log intercepts, log absolute slopes, log absolute elasticities, and log bid shading components.

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 748 "Financial dollarization: the role of banks and interest rates" by H. S. Basso, O. Calvo-Gonzalez and M. Jurgilas, May 2007.
- 749 "Excess money growth and inflation dynamics" by B. Roffia and A. Zaghini, May 2007.
- 750 "Long run macroeconomic relations in the global economy" by S. Dées, S. Holly, M. H. Pesaran and L.V. Smith, May 2007.
- 751 "A look into the factor model black box: publication lags and the role of hard and soft data in forecasting GDP" by M. Bańbura and G. Rünstler, May 2007.
- 752 "Econometric analyses with backdated data: unified Germany and the euro area" by E.Angelini and M. Marcellino, May 2007.
- 753 "Trade credit defaults and liquidity provision by firms" by F. Boissay and R. Gropp, May 2007.
- 754 "Euro area inflation persistence in an estimated nonlinear DSGE model" by G.Amisano and O.Tristani, May 2007.
- 755 "Durable goods and their effect on household saving ratios in the euro area" by J. Jalava and I. K. Kavonius, May 2007.
- 756 "Maintaining low inflation: money, interest rates, and policy stance" by S. Reynard, May 2007.
- 757 "The cyclicality of consumption, wages and employment of the public sector in the euro area" by A. Lamo, J. J. Pérez and L. Schuknecht, May 2007.
- 758 "Red tape and delayed entry" by A. Ciccone and E. Papaioannou, June 2007.
- 759 "Linear-quadratic approximation, external habit and targeting rules" by P. Levine, J. Pearlman and R. Pierse, June 2007.
- 760 "Modelling intra- and extra-area trade substitution and exchange rate pass-through in the euro area" by A. Dieppe and T. Warmedinger, June 2007.
- 761 "External imbalances and the US current account: how supply-side changes affect an exchange rate adjustment" by P. Engler, M. Fidora and C. Thimann, June 2007.
- 762 "Patterns of current account adjustment: insights from past experience" by B.Algieri and T. Bracke, June 2007.
- 763 "Short- and long-run tax elasticities: the case of the Netherlands" by G.Wolswijk, June 2007.

- 764 "Robust monetary policy with imperfect knowledge" by A. Orphanides and J. C. Williams, June 2007.
- 765 "Sequential optimization, front-loaded information, and U.S. consumption" by A. Willman, June 2007.
- 766 "How and when do markets tip? Lessons from the Battle of the Bund" by E. Cantillon and P.-L.Yin, June 2007.
- 767 "Explaining monetary policy in press conferences" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, June 2007.
- 768 "A new approach to measuring competition in the loan markets of the euro area" by M. van Leuvensteijn, J.A. Bikker, A. van Rixtel and C. Kok Sørensen, June 2007.
- 769 "The 'Great Moderation' in the United Kingdom" by L. Benati, June 2007.
- 770 "Welfare implications of Calvo vs. Rotemberg pricing assumptions" by G. Lombardo and D. Vestin, June 2007.
- 771 "Policy rate decisions and unbiased parameter estimation in typical monetary policy rules" by J. Podpiera, June 2007.
- 772 "Can adjustment costs explain the variability and counter-cyclicality of the labour share at the firm and aggregate level?" by P. Vermeulen, June 2007.
- 773 "Exchange rate volatility and growth in small open economies at the EMU periphery" by G. Schnabl, July 2007.
- 'Shocks, structures or monetary policies? The euro area and US after 2001" by L. Christiano, R. Motto and M. Rostagno, July 2007.
- "The dynamic behaviour of budget components and output" by A. Afonso and P. Claeys, July 2007.
- 776 "Insights gained from conversations with labor market decision makers" by T. F. Bewley, July 2007.
- 777 "Downward nominal wage rigidity in the OECD" by S. Holden and F. Wulfsberg, July 2007.
- 778 "Employment protection legislation and wages" by M. Leonardi and G. Pica, July 2007.
- 779 "On-the-job search and the cyclical dynamics of the labor market" by M. U. Krause and T.A. Lubik, July 2007.
- 780 "Dynamics and monetary policy in a fair wage model of the business cycle" by D. de la Croix, G. de Walque and R. Wouters, July 2007.
- 781 "Wage inequality in Spain: recent developments" by M. Izquierdo and A. Lacuesta, July 2007.
- 782 "Panel data estimates of the production function and product and labor market imperfections" by S. Dobbelaere and J. Mairesse, July 2007.
- 783 "The cyclicality of effective wages within employer-employee matches: evidence from German panel data" by S.Anger, July 2007.
- 784 "Understanding the dynamics of labor shares and inflation" by M. Lawless and K. Whelan, July 2007.

- 785 "Aggregating Phillips curves" by J. Imbs, E. Jondeau and F. Pelgrin, July 2007.
- 786 "The economic impact of merger control: what is special about banking?" by E. Carletti, P. Hartmann and S. Ongena, July 2007.
- 787 "Finance and growth: a macroeconomic assessment of the evidence from a European angle" by E. Papaioannou, July 2007.
- 788 "Evaluating the real effect of bank branching deregulation: comparing contiguous counties across U.S. state borders" by R. R. Huang, July 2007.
- 789 "Modeling the impact of external factors on the euro area's HICP and real economy: a focus on pass-through and the trade balance" by L. Landolfo, July 2007.
- 790 "Asset prices, exchange rates and the current account" by M. Fratzscher, L. Juvenal and L. Sarno, August 2007.
- 791 "Inquiries on dynamics of transition economy convergence in a two-country model" by J. Brůha and J. Podpiera, August 2007.
- 792 "Euro area market reactions to the monetary developments press release" by J. Coffinet and S. Gouteron, August 2007.
- 793 "Structural econometric approach to bidding in the main refinancing operations of the Eurosystem" by N. Cassola, C. Ewerhart and C. Morana, August 2007.

